

Ohio Legislative Service Commission

Bill Analysis

Megan Cummiskey and other LSC staff

H.B. 2^{*} 128th General Assembly (As Introduced)

BILL SUMMARY

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

- Removes all the secondary enforcement limitations that apply to seat belt requirements, whereby a law enforcement officer cannot stop a vehicle in which the officer has observed a person in the vehicle violating a seat belt use requirement unless the officer observes another separate motor vehicle violation for which the officer can legally stop the vehicle.
- Creates a two-year pilot project under which a state speeding violation that occurs within a construction zone that is located on an interstate highway and is detected by an automated speed enforcement system constitutes a civil offense for which a civil penalty not exceeding \$250 is assessed against the owner of the motor vehicle that was involved in the offense.
- Permits the Director of Transportation to enter into a contract with a transportation innovation authority or any corporation organized under the laws of this state to perform certain functions relative to projects the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) administers, and permits the Director to execute a lease or lease-purchase with a transportation innovation authority of all or part of a transportation facility.

^{*} This analysis was prepared before the fact of H.B. 2's introduction was recorded in the House Journal. Please note that the list of co-sponsors and legislative history may be incomplete. In addition, this analysis does not address appropriations, fund transfers, and similar provisions. See the Legislative Service Commission's Comparison Document and Budget in Detail for H.B. 2 for an analysis of such provisions.

- Permits the Director to grant a lease, easement, or license in a transportation facility to a utility service provider for the construction, placement, or operation of an alternative energy generating facility.
- Permits the Director to issue a permit to any individual, firm, or corporation for any use of a road or highway on the state highway system that is consistent with applicable federal law or federal regulations.
- Provides that goods or services may be sold within interstate highway rest areas as may be authorized by applicable federal law or federal regulations.
- Removes from codified law the requirement that OBM make periodic transfers to the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT Fund from ODOT's appropriation for general administrative purposes in favor of a general statement that the fund is to consist of money credited to the fund for the payment of costs incurred by the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT in performing the Deputy Director's duties.
- Subject to approval by the Director of Transportation, authorizes the creation of a transportation innovation authority (TIA) by specified governmental agencies for the purpose of encouraging the investment of public and private resources in the planning and implementation of innovative transportation projects to enhance the efficiency of the state's transportation system.
- Establishes the powers of a TIA, which include the authority to acquire and dispose of property but not the authority to appropriate property, the authority to issue bonds but not the authority to levy taxes, and the authority to develop toll projects under proposed new authority being given to ODOT.
- Allows ODOT to construct and operate tolled new capacity projects, requires the Director of Transportation to adopt a plan for tolls in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, creates the Ohio Toll Fund in the state treasury, allows toll revenue to be pledged for the repayment of bonds, allows the Director to adopt rules for the control of traffic on tolled projects, requires the State Highway Patrol to police tolled projects and enforce the rules of the Director that are punishable as criminal offenses, requires the Director to establish a procedure for a transportation innovation authority (new) to request the Department to construct and operate a tolled project, and grants other authority necessary for the operation of tolled projects.
- Exempts ODOT contracts for the acquisition of materials necessary for snow and ice removal from the requirements of the "Buy Ohio" program deeming that two or more qualified bids offering products produced or mined in Ohio is sufficient

competition to prevent an excessive price for the product or the acquiring of a disproportionately inferior product.

- Exempts ODOT contracts for the acquisition of materials necessary for snow and ice removal from the requirements of the "Buy Ohio" program deeming that two or more qualified bids offering products produced or mined in Ohio is sufficient competition to prevent an excessive price for the product or the acquiring of a disproportionately inferior product.
- Replaces a requirement that ODOT's confidential cost estimate for a construction project be publicly read prior to the opening of the bids with a requirement that the total amount of such an estimate be published after all bids have been received.
- Suspends until July 1, 2015, the provision of law limiting the total dollar value of ODOT design-build contracts to \$250 million per biennium.
- Creates the New Generation Infrastructure Bank Fund within the State Infrastructure Bank, consisting of assistance received by the state as may be provided by law, for the purpose of providing financial assistance to transportation innovation authorities (a newly proposed entity that may be formed by certain governmental agencies).
- Removes authority to use the Highway and Transit Infrastructure Bank Fund, the Aviation Infrastructure Bank Fund, and the Rail Infrastructure Bank Fund (all within the State Infrastructure Bank) to pay debt service on obligations whose proceeds have been deposited into the Infrastructure Bank Obligations Fund (federal GARVEE bonds).
- Permits the Director of Transportation to accept a survey or appraisal of a surplus parcel of real property that ODOT owns and wishes to sell that was commissioned by an interested party, but prohibits ODOT from reimbursing the party for the cost of the survey or appraisal.
- Increases from \$2,000 to \$5,000 the maximum value a surplus parcel of ODOT real property that can be sold at public auction to the highest bidder without regard to the appraised value if an abutting landowner chooses not to buy the parcel.
- Provides that the Director of Transportation may grant leases, easements, and licenses for lands under ODOT control independent of any lease or lease-purchase the Director may execute for all or part of a transportation facility.
- Requires aircraft registration fines to be deposited into the airport assistance fund.

- Removes from the listing of aircraft exempt from the annual aircraft license tax, a reference to aircraft "operated under a certificate of convenience and necessity issued by the civil aeronautics board" or its successor.
- Changes the annual aircraft license tax imposed on commercial cargo aircraft.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

- Increases a total of seven driver, motor vehicle, and certificate of title abstract fees from \$2 to \$8.
- Of each \$6 increase, requires \$1.25 to be credited to the existing Trauma and Emergency Medical Services Fund, \$1.25 to be credited to the new Homeland Security Fund, \$0.75 to be credited to the new Investigations Fund, \$2.25 to be credited to the existing Emergency Management Agency Service and Reimbursement Fund, and \$0.50 to be credited to the existing Justice Program Services Fund.
- Permits the Director of Budget and Management, upon the request of the Director of Public Safety, to transfer excess money from the above five funds to the existing State Highway Safety Fund.
- Increases or establishes the following fees and directs that the fees be deposited into the State Highway Safety Fund: (1) new late fee for vehicle registrations and driver's license applications, \$10, (2) additional passenger vehicle registration fee, \$5.75, (3) additional in-state commercial vehicle registration fee, \$19, (4) increased out-of-state apportioned registration tax for commercial cars and buses, ranging from \$2 to \$33.50, depending on the vehicle weight, (5) additional temporary registration tag fee, \$5, and (6) additional vision screening fee, \$1.

OHIO TURNPIKE COMMISSION

- Establishes that violations of vehicle weight limits on the Ohio Turnpike are subject to the same fines as such violations occurring on other roads, generally dependent on the amount by which the overweight vehicle exceeds the established weight limits.
- Requires bid and performance bonds for Turnpike Commission bids and contract awards that are over \$150,000 and for any service facility contract.
- Allows the Turnpike Commission to combine the design and construction elements into a single competitively bid contract for "special projects."

MISCELLANEOUS

- Extends the laws governing debt issuance to support the Clean Ohio program to reflect the recent adoption of Section 2q, Ohio Constitution, which provides additional debt authority for conservation and revitalization purposes.
- Provides specific authorization for the issuance of \$60 million in state general obligations and \$60 million in state revenue bonds to fund the Clean Ohio program in addition to the amounts authorized in Am. Sub. H.B. 562 of the 127th General Assembly.
- Eliminates the motor fuel prompt pay discount and shrinkage allowance for distributors and retail dealers of motor fuel.
- Allocates a portion of the money collected by the courts from moving violations to the Justice Program Services Fund.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION	7
Enforcement of the seat belt use requirements	
Current law	
Operation of the bill	
•	
The Construction Zone Automated Speed Enforcement System Pilot Project	9
Creation of the Construction Zone Automated Speed Enforcement System Pilot	
Project	
Issuance of a citation under the Pilot Project	9
Choices available to a person who is issued a citation under the Pilot Project	10
Department of Public Safety administrative hearing and appeal	10
Provisions relating to motor vehicle owners and operators under the Pilot Project	11
Civil nature of violations processed under the Pilot Project	11
Distribution of the civil penalties collected under the Pilot Project	11
Additional administrative fee	12
Adoption of administrative rules by the Department of Public Safety	12
Points not assessed against a violator's driver's license under the Pilot Project	12
Prohibited action of municipal corporations, counties, and townships	12
The Department of Public Safety and a designee	13
Signs required under the Pilot Project	13
Automated Speed Enforcement System Fund	14
Termination of the Pilot Project	
Certain duties and powers of ODOT	14
ODOT and alternative energy facility service providers	

Issuance by ODOT of permits to use or occupy state roads	16
Commerce at interstate highway rest areas	16
Agreements by ODOT with the federal government concerning the review of	
environmentally related documents	17
Financing the operations of the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT	17
Transportation innovation authority (TIA)	18
Overview	18
Purpose of a TIA	18
Creation and organization	19
Powers and duties	21
Acquiring and disposing of property	22
Project funding	23
Tolling authority	25
Overview	25
Guidelines	25
Tolled projects	26
Collection and use of tolls	27
Ohio Toll Fund	28
Authority related to toll projects	29
Snow and ice removal material contracts exempt from "Buy Ohio"	
Publishing ODOT's confidential construction cost estimates	30
Design-build authority of ODOT	31
New Generation State Infrastructure Bank	31
Sale of excess ODOT real property	32
Surveys and appraisals of ODOT property that is for sale	
Sale of ODOT real property having a low market value	33
Granting of leases, easements, and licenses for lands under ODOT control	33
Disposition of fine imposed for failure to register aircraft	33
Aircraft exempt from annual license tax	
Commercial cargo aircraft license tax	
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY	34
Increase in driver, motor vehicle, and certificate of title abstract fees	34
Creation of new funds	37
Homeland Security Fund	37
Investigations Fund	38
Transfer of excess money from certain funds to the State Highway Safety Fund	38
Fee increases to State Highway Safety Fund	
OHIO TURNPIKE COMMISSION	39
Fines for overweight vehicles on the Ohio Turnpike	39

Ohio Turnpike contracts	40
Design-build	40
Bid and performance bonds	
MISCELLANEOUS	41

Clean Ohio program debt authority expansion	41
Motor fuel excise tax: eliminate evaporation and shrinkage allowance	
Court costs for moving violations	43

CONTENT AND OPERATION

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Enforcement of the seat belt use requirements

(R.C. 4507.05, 4507.071, 4511.093, and 4513.263; Sections 755.20 and 815.10)

Current law

Current law unaffected by the bill contains four general prohibitions related to seat belt use. First, current law prohibits a person from operating an automobile on any street or highway unless that person is wearing all of the available elements of a properly adjusted occupant restraining device, or operating a school bus that has an occupant restraining device installed for use in its operator's seat unless that person is wearing all of the available elements of the device, properly adjusted. A violation of this prohibition is punishable by a \$30 fine. Postal service employees or newspaper delivery persons who are delivering mail or newspapers are not required to comply with this requirement. Also, this requirement does not apply to a person who has an affidavit signed by a physician or chiropractor that states that the person has a physical impairment that makes use of an occupant restraining device impossible or impractical.

Second, current law prohibits a person from operating an automobile on any street or highway unless each front-seat passenger in the automobile is wearing all of the available elements of a properly adjusted occupant restraining device. There is no penalty for a violation of this prohibition.

Third, current law prohibits a person from occupying, as a passenger, a seating position on the front seat of an automobile being operated on any street or highway unless that person is wearing all of the available elements of a properly adjusted occupant restraining device. A violation of this prohibition is punishable by a fine of \$20. This requirement does not apply to a person who has an affidavit signed by a physician or chiropractor that states that the person has a physical impairment that

makes use of an occupant restraining device impossible or impractical or to a person who is required to be secured in a child restraint device or booster seat.

Fourth, current law prohibits a person from operating a taxicab on any street or highway unless all factory-equipped occupant restraining devices in the taxicab are maintained in usable form. A violation of this prohibition is a minor misdemeanor for a first offense and a misdemeanor of the third degree for subsequent offenses.

Under current law, a law enforcement officer is prohibited from causing the operator of an automobile being operated on any street or highway to stop the automobile for the sole purpose of determining whether a violation of the seat belt requirements has been or is being committed. Also, a law enforcement officer is prohibited under current law from stopping an automobile operator for the sole purpose of issuing a ticket, citation, or summons for a seat belt violation or from viewing the interior or visually inspecting any automobile being operated on any street or highway for the sole purpose of determining whether a seat belt violation has been or is being committed. This limitation on the enforcement of the seat belt law is known as "secondary enforcement": the law enforcement officer cannot stop a vehicle in which the officer has observed a person in the vehicle violation for which the officer can legally stop the vehicle.

Current law also contains specific provisions regarding seat belt use by occupants of an automobile that is being operated by a temporary instruction permit holder or a probationary license holder. One such restriction is that the total number of occupants cannot exceed the total number of seat belts originally installed in the automobile by its manufacturer, and each occupant must wear all available seat belt elements, properly adjusted. These requirements also are limited to secondary enforcement by law enforcement officers.

Operation of the bill

The bill removes the secondary enforcement limitations that apply to seat belt use requirements. Regarding the general seat belt use requirements, the bill provides that a law enforcement officer may cause the operator of any automobile being operated on any street or highway to stop the automobile solely because the officer observes that a seat belt violation has been or is being committed in the same manner as any other motor vehicle traffic violation. For the other seat belt use requirements, the bill removes all the applicable secondary enforcement language.

The bill provides that as a result of the enactment of its provisions providing for the primary enforcement of seat belt use violations in this state, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) is required to apply for a one-time federal grant from the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration offered in the Safe, Accountable, Flexible and Efficient Transportation Equity Act of 2003 – A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU). Of the grant money ODOT receives, \$1 million must be transferred to the Ohio Department of Public Safety and expended on safety activities in accordance with applicable federal law. ODOT must expend all the remaining grant money on eligible transportation safety issues.

The Construction Zone Automated Speed Enforcement System Pilot Project

(Section 755.30)

Creation of the Construction Zone Automated Speed Enforcement System Pilot Project

The bill creates the Construction Zone Automated Speed Enforcement System Pilot Project. An "automated speed enforcement system" is a device that has one or more sensors and, as a motor vehicle proceeds through an area on a road or highway, is capable of determining the speed of the motor vehicle and producing a photographic or digitally recorded image of the motor vehicle, including an image of the vehicle's front or rear license plate. Under the Pilot Project, a state speeding violation that occurs within a construction zone that is located on an interstate highway and is detected by an automated speed enforcement system constitutes a civil offense for which a civil penalty is assessed against the owner of the motor vehicle that was involved in the offense. The Pilot Project affects only properly marked construction zones that are located on interstate highways and no other locations. The Department of Public Safety is to administer the Pilot Project with the advice and assistance of ODOT.

Issuance of a citation under the Pilot Project

Under the Pilot Project, if an automated speed enforcement system determines that a motor vehicle has committed a state speeding violation while traveling within a construction zone that is located on an interstate highway, a State Highway Patrol trooper is required to view the motor vehicle image and its speed as recorded by the automated speed enforcement system to determine if the speeding violation did in fact occur. If the trooper determines that the violation did occur, the trooper must inform the Department of Public Safety or the Department's designee of that fact. The Department or the Department's designee is required to issue to the motor vehicle owner a citation for the offense, which must include at a minimum the date, time, and location that the alleged violation occurred, the fact that the violation is being processed under the Pilot Project not as a criminal offense but as a civil offense, and the amount of the civil penalty. The citation also must state clearly the manners in which the motor vehicle owner is able to challenge the citation.

Choices available to a person who is issued a citation under the Pilot Project

Under the bill, a motor vehicle owner who is issued a citation under the Pilot Project is liable for the violation and for payment of the resulting civil penalty unless the owner does either of the following in a timely manner:

(1) Files an objection to the citation and any resulting civil penalty and appears in person at a nonjudicial, administrative hearing to challenge the citation;

(2) Submits sufficient reliable, credible evidence that shows that, more likely than not, at the time of the violation the motor vehicle was in the care, custody, or control of another person. Any such evidence must be submitted by the motor vehicle owner to the Department of Public Safety or the Department's designee not later than 30 days after the date the owner is notified of the violation in order for the evidence to be considered submitted in a timely manner. The Department is required to adopt rules specifying what evidence is sufficiently reliable and credible.

A motor vehicle leasing dealer or motor vehicle renting dealer who receives a citation under the Pilot Project is not liable if the citation was issued for a motor vehicle that was in the care, custody, or control of a lessee or renter at the time of the alleged violation. A dealer who receives such a citation is required to notify the Department of Public Safety or the Department's designee of the motor vehicle lessee's or renter's name and address. In no case is the dealer permitted to pay such a citation and then attempt to collect a fee or assess the lessee or renter a charge for any payment of the citation made on behalf of the lessee or renter.

Department of Public Safety administrative hearing and appeal

The bill requires the Department of Public Safety to establish a nonjudicial, administrative hearing procedure at which a motor vehicle owner who receives a citation under the Pilot Project is able to appear in person to challenge the citation. At the hearing, the owner may view all the evidence that served as the basis for issuance of the citation against the owner, to introduce evidence on the owner's behalf, and to produce, examine, and cross-examine witnesses.

An owner or operator of a motor vehicle that is involved in a state speeding violation that is processed under the Pilot Project who challenges the citation may appeal a decision of the Department of Public Safety or the Department's designee that imposes liability on the owner or operator and the civil penalty, within 30 days of the date of the decision, to the municipal court or county court within whose territorial

jurisdiction the violation occurred. The municipal court or county court is required to affirm the decision of the Department or the Department's designee if the court finds that the decision is supported by sufficient reliable, credible evidence and is in accordance with the law.

Provisions relating to motor vehicle owners and operators under the Pilot Project

The bill provides that no owner or operator of a motor vehicle that is involved in a state speeding violation that is processed under the Pilot Project is liable for the violation and payment of the civil penalty if notification of the violation is given to the motor vehicle owner more than 90 days after the date of the violation.

The bill also provides that no motor vehicle operator who is issued a ticket, citation, or summons by a law enforcement officer for a state or local speeding violation that occurs within a construction zone on an interstate highway and is a criminal offense is liable for the same violation and payment of a civil penalty under the Pilot Project if the violation also is detected by an automated speed enforcement system.

If the owner or operator of a motor vehicle that is involved in a state speeding violation that is processed under the Pilot Project fails to pay the civil penalty or to respond to the citation within the time period specified in the citation, the owner is deemed to have waived any right to contest liability for the violation and payment of the civil penalty by law.

Civil nature of violations processed under the Pilot Project

The bill specifies that a state speeding violation that is detected by an automated speed enforcement system and is processed under the Pilot Project is a civil violation for which a maximum civil penalty of \$250 must be assessed. The Department of Public Safety is required to establish the amount of the civil penalty.

Distribution of the civil penalties collected under the Pilot Project

Under the bill, of each civil penalty collected under the Pilot Project:

(1) Fifty-five per cent must be paid into the treasury of the municipal corporation in which the violation occurred, or if the violation occurred outside the territorial jurisdiction of a municipal corporation, into the treasury of the county in which the violation occurred;

(2) Forty-five per cent must be deposited into the state treasury to the credit of the General Revenue Fund; and

(3) Five per cent must be deposited into the state treasury to the credit of the existing Trauma and Emergency Medical Services Fund.

Additional administrative fee

The bill provides that, in addition to the civil penalty that is imposed for a state speeding violation that is processed under the Pilot Project, the Department also must impose an administrative fee in every such case. The Department must determine the amount of the fee by rule, and all such fees must be deposited into the state treasury to the credit of the Automated Speed Enforcement System Fund, which the bill creates.

Adoption of administrative rules by the Department of Public Safety

Under the bill, the Department of Public Safety, in consultation with ODOT and in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, is required to adopt all rules necessary and proper for the establishment, implementation, and administration of the Pilot Project. The rules also must establish procedures for collection of civil penalties imposed upon persons under the Pilot Project. The rules may provide that, in the event of nonpayment of a civil penalty or administrative fee by a person, the Registrar of Motor Vehicles may suspend the person's driver's or commercial driver's license or permit or nonresident operating privilege until all outstanding penalties and fees have been paid.

Points not assessed against a violator's driver's license under the Pilot Project

The bill provides that an owner or operator of a motor vehicle that is involved in a state speeding violation that is detected by an automated speed enforcement system and is processed under the Pilot Project does not have any points assessed against that person's driver's or commercial driver's license or permit for the violation.

Prohibited action of municipal corporations, counties, and townships

The bill prohibits any municipal corporation, county, or township from enacting an ordinance or adopting a resolution authorizing the use of an automated speed enforcement system on any interstate highway within its boundaries. This provision is not to be construed as prohibiting a municipal corporation, county, or township from enacting an ordinance or adopting a resolution authorizing the use of an automated speed enforcement system on any street or highway within its boundaries that is not an interstate highway if the municipal corporation, county, or township otherwise has the power to do so.

The Department of Public Safety and a designee

The bill permits the Department of Public Safety to enter into a contract with a private entity for the establishment and operation of the automated speed enforcement system. For purposes of the bill, if the Department enters into such a contract, the private entity is the Department's designee.

The Department of Public Safety and ODOT are required to enter into an agreement whereby the ODOT must grant to the Department of Public Safety or the Department's designee access to any ODOT property and any easements as may be necessary for the Department of Public Safety or its designee to implement the Pilot Project.

Signs required under the Pilot Project

Under the bill, the Department of Public Safety cannot use an automated speed enforcement system at any construction zone location unless it erects signs that inform traffic approaching the construction zone that the construction zone contains an automated speed enforcement system to enforce the speed limit. The Department must erect the signs not less than 1,000 but not more than 5,300 feet before the boundary of the construction zone. The signs must be so erected in each direction of travel on the interstate highway. The Department is responsible for all costs associated with the erection, maintenance, and replacement, if necessary, of the signs. All such signs erected under the Pilot Project must conform in size, color, location, and content to standards contained in the Ohio Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices and must remain in place for as long as the Department of Public Safety utilizes the automated speed enforcement system to enforce the speed limit within the construction zone. Any citation issued by or on behalf of the Department for a state speeding violation based upon evidence gathered by an automated speed enforcement system device after the effective date of the Pilot Project provisions but before the signs have been erected is invalid. No such citation is invalid, however, if the Department is in substantial compliance with the Pilot Project sign requirements.

The Department is deemed to be in substantial compliance with the Pilot Project sign requirements if the Department does both of the following:

(1) Erects all the required signs and subsequently maintains and replaces the signs as needed so that at all times at least 90% of the required signs are in place and functional; and

(2) Annually documents and upon request certifies its compliance with the Pilot Project's sign requirements.

Automated Speed Enforcement System Fund

The bill creates in the state treasury the Automated Speed Enforcement System Fund, consisting of the administrative fees collected under the Pilot Project. The Department of Public Safety may use the money in the Fund only to pay expenses associated with the Pilot Project, including paying a private entity to establish, operate, and administer the Pilot Project.

Termination of the Pilot Project

The Pilot Project terminates on July 1, 2011, and no citations may be issued under the Pilot Project on or after that date. Citations that are issued under the Pilot Project before that date may be processed after that date, and citation processing and administrative hearings regarding those citations may continue after that date until all citations issued under the Pilot Project have reached final resolution. Upon certification by the Director of Public Safety to the Director of Budget and Management that all citations issued under the Pilot Project have reached final resolution and all payments that are due the Department's designee have been paid, the Director of Budget and Management is required to transfer all remaining money in the Automated Speed Enforcement System Fund to the General Revenue Fund.

Certain duties and powers of ODOT

(R.C. 5501.03 and 5501.311)

Current law permits the Director of Transportation to enter into contracts with public agencies, including political subdivisions, other state agencies, boards, commissions, regional transit authorities, county transit boards, and port authorities, to administer the design, qualification of bidders, competitive bid letting, construction inspection, and acceptance of any projects administered by ODOT. The administration of such projects must be performed in accordance with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations with oversight by ODOT.

The bill adds a transportation innovation authority and any corporation organized under the laws of this state, which includes private corporations, to the list of public entities with which the Director may enter into contracts related to ODOT projects.

Existing law permits the Director to lease or lease-purchase all or any part of a transportation facility to or from one or more persons, one or more governmental agencies, a transportation improvement district, or any combination of these entities, and, in conjunction with such a lease or lease-purchase, to grant leases, easements, or licenses for lands under the control of ODOT. The bill adds a transportation innovation

authority as an entity with which the Director may execute a lease or lease-purchase of all or any part of a transportation facility.

ODOT and alternative energy facility service providers

(R.C. 5501.03 and 5501.311)

The bill requires ODOT to cooperate with and assist the Ohio Power Siting Board in the administration of the Board's duties relative to the issuance of construction certificates for construction of major utility facilities in this state. Also, in accordance with ODOT's statutory duty to take certain steps to conserve energy and to further efforts to promote energy conservation and energy efficiency, the bill authorizes the Director to grant a lease, easement, or license in a transportation facility to a utility service provider that has received its certificate from the Ohio Power Siting Board or appropriate local entity for construction, placement, or operation of an alternative energy generating facility. Such an interest is subject to all of the following conditions:

(1) The transportation facility is owned in fee simple or easement by this state at the time the lease, easement, or license is granted to the utility service provider.

(2) The lease, easement, or license must be granted on a competitive basis in accordance with policies and procedures to be determined by the Director. The policies and procedures may include provisions for master leases for multiple sites.

(3) The alternative energy generating facility must be designed to provide energy for ODOT's transportation facilities with the potential for selling excess power on the power grid, as the Director may determine is necessary for highway or other departmental purposes.

(4) The Director must require indemnity agreements in favor of ODOT as a condition of any such lease, easement, or license. Each indemnity agreement must secure this state and its agents from liability for damages arising out of safety hazards, zoning, and any other matter of public interest the Director considers necessary.

(5) The alternative energy service provider fully complies with any permit issued by the Ohio Power Siting Board and complies with existing law pertaining to use of ODOT land that is the subject of the lease, easement, or license.

(6) All plans and specifications must meet with the Director's approval.

(7) Any other conditions the Director determines necessary.

Money ODOT receives under these alternative energy provisions must be deposited into the state treasury to the credit of the existing Highway Operating Fund.

Under existing law, a lease, easement, or license in a transportation facility granted by the Director to a telecommunications service provider is deemed to further the essential highway purpose of building and maintaining a safe, efficient, and accessible transportation system. The bill deems a lease, easement, or license granted by the Director to an alternative energy service provider to further the same purpose but changes "efficient" to "energy-efficient" with respect to both telecommunications facilities and alternative energy generating facilities.

Issuance by ODOT of permits to use or occupy state roads

(R.C. 5515.01)

Under current law, an individual, firm, or corporation may submit an application to the Director for a permit to use or occupy a portion of a road or highway that is part of the state highway system, so long as the use or occupation will not inconvenience the traveling public. A number of conditions apply to such permits, including the requirement that the occupancy of the road or highway be in the location that the Director prescribes. The bill eliminates this condition and provides that the Director may issue a permit to any individual, firm, or corporation for any use of a road or highway on the state highway system that is consistent with applicable federal law or federal regulations.

Current law also provides that as a condition precedent to the issuance of a permit to a telecommunications service provider, the Director must require the applicant to provide proof that it is a party to a lease, easement, or license for the construction, placement, or operation of a telecommunications facility in or on a transportation facility. The bill modifies this provision by providing that as a condition precedent to the issuance of any permit, including for telecommunications or carbon dioxide infrastructure, the Director must require the applicant to provide proof that it is a party to a lease, easement, or license for the construction, placement, or operation of a facility in or on a transportation facility.

Commerce at interstate highway rest areas

(R.C. 5515.07)

The Director of Transportation has adopted rules consistent with the safety of the traveling public and consistent with the national policy governing the use and control of rest areas within the rights of way of interstate highways and other state highways and in other areas within the rights of way of interstate highways. Generally, no person may sell, offer for sale, or exhibit for purposes of sale, goods, products, merchandise, or services within the bounds of rest areas within the rights of way of interstate highways and other state highways, or in other areas within the rights of way of interstate highways of way of interstate highways and other state highways.

highways, unless the Director has issued the person the proper permit. The one exception to this provision is vending machines, which may be placed within each rest area that is able to accommodate the machines.

The bill provides that goods, products, merchandise, or services may be sold within the bounds of rest areas within the rights of way of interstate highways and other state highways, or in other areas within the rights of way of interstate highways, as may be authorized by applicable federal law or federal regulations; this could include sales by local authorities and private entities.

Agreements by ODOT with the federal government concerning the review of environmentally related documents

(Section 755.10)

The bill allows the Director of Transportation to enter into agreements with the United States or any U.S. department or agency solely for the purpose of dedicating staff to the expeditious and timely review of environmentally related documents submitted by ODOT, as necessary for the approval of federal permits. Such an agreement may include provisions for advance payment by ODOT for labor and all other identifiable costs of providing services by the United States or any U.S. department or agency as may be estimated by the United States or the department or agency. The bill specifically includes the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the U.S. Forest Service, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service as federal agencies with which the Director may enter into agreements, but does not limit the Director's authority to those agencies. The Director must submit a request to the Controlling Board indicating the amount of the agreement, the services to be performed by the United States or the dagreement.

Financing the operations of the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT

(R.C. 121.51; Section 512.40)

The Deputy Inspector General for ODOT investigates wrongful acts or omissions by employees of ODOT and conducts a program of random review of the processing of contracts associated with building and maintaining the state's infrastructure.

Currently the Inspector General is required to certify to the Director of Budget and Management the costs that the Inspector General expects the Deputy Inspector General to incur during the fiscal year or such lesser period for which the certification is made. The Director of Budget and Management is required then to transfer the certified amount into the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT Fund from the appropriation made to ODOT from which expenditures for general administrative purposes are made. The bill replaces these codified provisions for getting money into the fund with a general statement that the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT Fund is to consist of money credited to it for the payment of costs incurred by the Deputy Inspector General in performing the Deputy Inspector General's duties. (An uncodified section of the bill provides that, beginning October 1, 2009, money is to be transferred to the Deputy Inspector General for ODOT Fund, from the fund used by ODOT to pay the Department's administrative expenses, pursuant to quarterly bills submitted to ODOT by the Inspector General that reflect costs incurred by the Deputy Inspector General during the preceding quarter.)

Transportation innovation authority (TIA)

(R.C. Chapter 5539.)

Overview

Subject to approval by the Director of Transportation, the bill authorizes the creation of a transportation innovation authority (TIA) by specified governmental agencies for the purpose of encouraging the investment of public and private resources in the planning and implementation of innovative transportation projects to enhance the efficiency of the state's transportation system. A TIA is a body corporate and politic, and the exercise by it of its powers is considered to be an essential governmental function. As described in detail below, the bill establishes the powers of a TIA, including the authority to acquire and dispose of property, the authority to issue bonds, and the authority to develop toll projects under proposed new authority being given to ODOT. TIAs expressly are denied the authority to appropriate property and authority to levy taxes.

Purpose of a TIA

(R.C. 5539.02)

The bill states that the purpose of a TIA is "to foster and encourage the investment of public and private resources in the planning and implementation of innovative transportation projects to enhance the efficiency of the state's transportation system, enhance intermodal and multimodal systems to streamline the transportation of goods and persons, and encourage the improvement and development of public transit systems and intercity passenger rail service throughout the state." A TIA must assist governmental agencies in the identification of transportation needs that will foster growth and economic development in the region conducive to the transportation projects and must assist in funding priority projects through cooperative arrangements involving public and private partnerships.

Creation and organization

(R.C. 5539.01, 5539.03(A), (B), and (C), 5539.04(A), 5539.06, and 5539.07(B))

Under the bill, any "governmental agency," by resolution, ordinance, or other formal action, as applicable, may enter into an agreement with one or more other governmental agencies proposing to form a TIA. Those governmental agencies that may form a TIA include a county, township, or municipal corporation, and any agency thereof; any other political subdivision; any county transit system, regional transit authority, or regional transit commission; any new community authority; one or more municipal corporations and one or more townships acting pursuant to a cooperative economic development agreement; any joint economic development zone or joint economic development district; any metropolitan planning organization; any port authority; any transportation improvement district; the Ohio Rail Development Commission; or any other public corporation, agency, or commission established pursuant to state law; and any combination of the above.

The agreement is subject to approval by the Director of Transportation but must do all of the following:

(1) Identify all members of the TIA;

(2) Designate the geographical area to be included in the jurisdiction of the TIA;

(3) Identify the transportation needs of the region covered by the TIA and define the transportation projects necessary to meet such needs;

(4) Provide for the planning, construction, operation, and maintenance of transportation projects proposed to be undertaken by the TIA;

(5) Establish the dates for the existence and operation of the TIA, which must include a date of creation and the means for determining when the TIA ceases to exist;

(6) Allow for and establish the terms of funding arrangements for the identified projects through any combination of authorized funding sources;

(7) Require all political subdivisions participating as members of the TIA to agree to adopt zoning and land use policies and laws that are consistent with and that complement the TIA priorities, objectives, and identified projects.

Under the bill, a "transportation project" of a TIA may include the construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, improvement, operation, or management of any road, highway, bridge, or other transportation facility (defined by reference to existing law as "all publicly owned modes and means of transporting people and goods, including the

physical facilities, garages, district offices, and other related buildings, and including highways, rights-of-way, roads and bridges, parking facilities, aviation facilities, port facilities, rail facilities, public transportation facilities, rest areas, and roadside parks"); any multimodal and intermodal systems; any public transit system; and any freight or intercity passenger rail system. The bill further defines (1) "multimodal and intermodal transportation system" as a system of roads and highways, rail lines, water ports, airports, bicycle paths, pedestrian walkways, or public transit systems, including connections between them, and related facilities, (2) "passenger rail service" as passenger railroad service that connects two or more urbanized areas, and (3) "public transit system" as a system of local transportation of passengers and their incidental baggage on scheduled routes by means of a conveyance on an individual passenger fare-paying basis, and excluding transportation by a sightseeing bus, taxi, or any vehicle not operated on a scheduled route basis.

Upon entering into an agreement, a proposed TIA must provide a copy of the agreement to the Director of Transportation. The Director must approve or disapprove the agreement or suggest modifications to ensure consistency with the general purposes of the law governing TIAs. In addition to approving TIA agreements, the bill authorizes the Director to adopt rules in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act to assist in the creation and operation of TIAs. The rules must be consistent with the purposes of bill as described above.

Under the bill, a TIA is deemed to be created upon the adoption by each participating governmental agency, acting by resolution, ordinance, or other formal action, as applicable, of an agreement approved by the Director. A TIA is governed by a board of directors. The membership of the board of directors must be established by the governmental agencies comprising the TIA, but there must be an equal number of board members representing each governmental agency comprising the TIA. Each member of the board serves at the pleasure of the member's appointing authority, and the appointing authority may remove an appointee the appointing authority has appointed at any time and for any reason. Members of the board receive no compensation but may be reimbursed for their necessary and actual expenses incurred in the course of duties as board members. The affirmative vote of a majority of the board is necessary to transact business.

The board and members of a TIA must encourage the participation of all political subdivisions within the geographic jurisdiction of the TIA. The bill requires a TIA to invite the participation of any new community authority, county transit system, regional transit authority, regional transit commission, joint economic development zone or joint economic development district, transportation improvement district, port

authority, or metropolitan planning organization whose jurisdiction is within or substantially within the jurisdiction identified by a TIA.

Powers and duties

(R.C. 5539.04(B), 5539.05, and 5539.08)

A TIA must adopt bylaws for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct of its business and must provide for public notice and opportunity for public comment on the identification of transportation projects and plans for funding the construction, operation, and maintenance of such projects. Under the bill, a TIA may do all of the following:

(1) Sue and be sued in its own name, plead, and be impleaded;

(2) Purchase, construct, maintain, repair, sell, exchange, police, operate, or lease a project;

(3) Make and enter into all contracts and agreements necessary or incidental to the performance of its functions in designing, planning, and implementing a project and the execution of its powers;

(4) Employ, retain, or contract for the services of consultants, engineers, construction and accounting experts, financial advisers, trustees, attorneys, or other employees, independent contractors, or agents as are necessary in its judgment for the exercise of its powers and performance of its duties;

(5) Acquire, hold, and dispose of property in the exercise of its powers and the performance of its duties;

(6) Direct its agents or employees, when properly identified in writing and after reasonable notice, to enter upon lands within its jurisdiction to make surveys and examinations preliminary to the location and construction of projects for the TIA, without liability of the TIA or its agents or employees except for actual damages arising solely out of such entry;

(7) Enter into contracts, agreements, or any other partnerships with private entities, where appropriate, to streamline and enhance the planning and implementation and funding of identified projects;

(8) Do all acts necessary and proper to carry out the powers expressly granted.

The bill specifies that any actions against a TIA must be brought in the court of common pleas in the county in which the TIA is headquartered or in the court of common pleas of the county in which the cause of action arose, and all summonses and notices of any kind must be served on a TIA by leaving a copy of the document at its headquarters.

The bill establishes general requirements for funds of a TIA. A TIA is required to hold and apply such funds as it considers necessary to carry out its powers and duties as conferred by law and as set forth in the governing agreement. A TIA must adopt an operating budget to hire employees, contract for services, and conduct normal business functions. All funding for its operating budget must be paid from contributions from each governmental agency constituting the TIA. The bill specifies that no state funds may be used for a TIA operating budget. Additionally, a TIA must submit an annual audited financial report to the Director of Transportation setting forth all sources and uses of funds obtained or otherwise generated by the TIA and a detailed breakdown of the different classes of expenditures made by the TIA during each calendar year of operation. The annual report must contain two-year budget projections for the TIA operating expenses and specific transportation project funding.

Acquiring and disposing of property

(R.C. 5539.09(A), (B), (C), and (D) and 5539.10)

The bill authorizes a TIA to acquire public or private property by purchase, lease, lease-purchase, lease with option to purchase, or otherwise, and in such manner and for such consideration as it considers proper, if the property is necessary, convenient, or proper for the construction, maintenance, repair, or operation of a transportation project. Title to real and personal property must be held in the name of the TIA. Except as otherwise agreed to by the owner, full compensation must be paid for public property taken.

The bill allows a governmental agency to exercise the power of eminent domain to acquire property necessary for or in connection with a transportation project but specifies that eminent domain may be used only to the extent such power is granted to the governmental agency individually. Proceedings for appropriation must be in accordance with the general law governing appropriations (R.C. 163.01 to 163.22, not in the bill) or as otherwise provided by law for the governmental agency's exercise of the power of eminent domain. The bill expressly provides that nothing in the governing law may be construed as permitting a TIA to exercise the power of eminent domain as a collective entity to acquire property for a transportation project.

The bill additionally specifies that it does not authorize a TIA to take or disturb property or facilities belonging to any public utility or to a common carrier engaged in interstate commerce if the property or facilities are required for the proper and convenient operation of the public utility or common carrier unless provision is made for the restoration, relocation, replication, or duplication of the property or facilities elsewhere at the sole cost of the TIA.

As a general matter, disposition of real property by a TIA must be by sale, leasepurchase agreement, lease with option to purchase, or otherwise in such manner and for such consideration as the TIA determines if to a governmental agency or to a private entity involved in the transportation project funding, and otherwise in the manner provided for the disposition of property by the Director of Transportation. Disposition of personal property must be in such manner and for such consideration as the TIA determines.

The bill authorizes a TIA board of directors to acquire excess real property in fee simple by any method other than appropriation and hold the property for such period of time as the board determines. All right, title, and interest of the TIA in the property may be sold at public auction or otherwise, as the board considers in the best interests of the TIA; however, the property may not be sold for less than two-thirds of its appraised value. Sale at public auction may be undertaken only after the board advertises the sale in a newspaper of general circulation in the area of the jurisdiction of the TIA for at least two weeks prior to the date set for the sale.

Project funding

(R.C. 5539.07(A) and (C) and 5539.11(A) and (B))

The bill allows a governmental agency to fund or assist in funding a transportation project using the authority granted to any governmental agency participating as a member of a TIA, but only to the extent such power is granted to the governmental agency individually. Additionally, nothing in the bill is to be construed as permitting or granting authority to a TIA to levy any fee, assessment, payment, or tax as a collective entity.

Projects identified by a TIA may be funded through any combination of revenue generated under the authority granted to the TIA under the bill or under the authority granted to any governmental agency participating as a member of a TIA. TIA funding sources may include special fees and assessments levied by a governmental agency, fair share payments, payments in lieu of property tax on improvements, cash payments by private participants, dedicated portions of local sales tax and local income tax receipts, loans or grants from local, state, or federal sources, implementation of tolling arrangements or other charges as authorized by new ODOT authority (see "**Tolling authority**"), or any other revenue raising or tax incentive authority available to a TIA or any governmental agency acting as a member of a TIA. The bill establishes the following conditions for TIA funding sources:

(1) A TIA may participate in the levy of special assessments by a governmental agency to assist in the payment of costs for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, improvement, operation, or management of an identified transportation project if the TIA determines that the project will benefit the geographic area where the project will be constructed, reconstructed, altered, repaired, improved, operated, or maintained.

(2) When it is determined that a project will benefit both a single political subdivision and the jurisdiction covered by a TIA as a whole, any governmental agency participating as a member of a TIA may exercise its taxing authority on income, sales, or property, or provide for payments in lieu of property tax on improvements, to benefit the entire jurisdiction covered by the TIA.

(3) A TIA may obtain loans or grants from local, state, or federal sources. Loans or grants from federal or state sources may be used for funding transportation projects and may not be applied to TIA operating expenses.

(4) A TIA may issue bonds to pay for all or part of the cost of an identified project.

(5) When it is determined that a project will benefit both a single political subdivision and the jurisdiction covered by a TIA as a whole, each governmental agency participating as a TIA member may issue bonds for a portion of the cost of any project if the Uniform Bond Law would authorize the issuance of those bonds as if the governmental agency alone were undertaking the project, subject to the same conditions and restrictions.

(6) Any governmental agency participating as a TIA member may appropriate money available to the agency to pay TIA costs incurred in the exercise of its powers and duties.

(7) A TIA may enter into agreements with private entities to assist with the construction, improvement, operation, or management of transportation projects. Such agreements may include fair share payments to be made by the private entities to fund the projects.

(8) A TIA may charge tolls or fees for the use of its transportation projects or facilities pursuant to new ODOT authority (see "**Tolling authority**"). The revenues must be utilized and deposited in accordance with the new ODOT authority. All

projects for which a toll or fee is proposed to be charged are subject to the review and approval of the Transportation Review Advisory Council.

The bill authorizes the Director of Transportation to provide grants for planning and project development, funding from the State Infrastructure Bank, and support for the transportation priority projects identified by a TIA. The Director must issue an annual report to the General Assembly summarizing the effectiveness of TIAs in identifying and funding the transportation needs of the state.

Tolling authority

(R.C. 5531.11 to 5531.18 and 5531.99)

Overview

The bill allows ODOT to construct and operate tolled new capacity projects, based upon a plan for tolls that the Director of Transportation must adopt in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act. To the extent permitted by federal law,¹ the bill allows the Director to fix, revise, charge, and collect tolls for each tolled project. Money received from tolls must be deposited into the Ohio Toll Fund, which the bill creates in the state treasury. The bill allows the Director to adopt rules for the control of traffic on tolled projects and requires the State Highway Patrol to police tolled projects and enforce the toll-related rules of the Director that are punishable as criminal offenses. The bill requires ODOT to make an annual report of its tolled project activities for the preceding calendar year to the Governor and the General Assembly. As described below, the bill also grants other authority necessary for the operation of tolled projects.

Guidelines

(R.C. 5531.11 and 5531.12)

In order to remove handicaps and hazards on the state's highways, to facilitate vehicular traffic, to promote the state's agricultural, commercial, recreational, tourism, and industrial development, and to provide for the general welfare by the construction, improvement, and maintenance of modern express highways embodying safety devices, the bill authorizes ODOT to construct, improve, maintain, repair, administer, and operate a system of tolled new capacity projects that are approved by the Director. The tolled projects expressly are designated as part of the Ohio transportation system.

¹ 29 U.S.C.A. § 129 establishes the guidelines for federal participation in toll highways, which, in general, relate to highways other than highways on the Interstate System.

The bill defines a "new capacity project" as any tolled project constructed pursuant to the new tolling authority granted in the bill, including construction on existing public freeways if the construction increases the total number of lanes, including tolled and nontolled lanes, and does not decrease the total number of nontolled lanes at each mile. A "tolled project," by definition in the bill, includes any express or limited access highway, motorway, interchange, service road, bridge, tunnel, bypass, general purpose lane addition, high occupancy lane, smart lane, intermodal facility, parking lot, airport, runway, canal, port, waterway, rail line, railroad interchange, railway spur, or highway project established, constructed, reconstructed, maintained, repaired, administered, operated, or improved, under ODOT's jurisdiction, at locations determined by the Director. Additionally, a tolled project includes all bridges, tunnels, overpasses, underpasses, interchanges, entrance plazas, approaches, those portions of connecting public roads that serve interchanges and are determined by the Director to be necessary for the safe merging of traffic between the tolled project and those nontolled public roads, toll booths, service facilities, and administration, storage, and other buildings, property, and facilities that ODOT considers necessary for the operation or policing of the tolled project, together with all property and rights that may be acquired by ODOT for a tolled project and any sections or extensions of a tolled project designated by ODOT. Each tolled project may be separately designated and may be constructed, improved, or extended in such sections as ODOT may determine. A tolled project, whether publicly or privately owned, is a state infrastructure project for all purposes of the State Infrastructure Bank and also is a transportation facility under existing ODOT law.

Tolled projects

(R.C. 5531.11, 5531.13(A), (B), and (C), 5531.16(A), (B), (C), and (D), 5531.17, and 5531.18)

The bill authorizes the Director to do all of the following as determined to be necessary, convenient, or proper for tolled projects: (1) acquire and dispose of any public or private property or property interests, (2) enter into contracts for the construction, improvement, repair, maintenance, administration, or operation of tolled projects, and (3) enter into any professional contracts. In each case, the bill requires the Director to act in the same manner as under specified existing law provisions governing similar actions by the Director.

Under the bill, each tolled project must (1) be maintained and kept in good condition and repair by ODOT, (2) be operated by toll collectors and other employees and agents that ODOT employs or contracts for, and (3) be policed by the State Highway Patrol, including enforcement of all ODOT rules that relate to the operation and use of vehicles on a tolled project and that are punishable as criminal offenses.

The bill requires the Director to establish a procedure for a political subdivision or other governmental agency or agencies to submit a written application to the Director in accordance with a provision of the bill governing transportation innovation authorities (see "**Transportation innovation authority**") requesting ODOT to construct and operate a tolled project within the boundaries of the subdivision, agency, or agencies making the request. The procedure must include a requirement that the Director send a written reply to the subdivision, agency, or agencies explaining the disposition of the request.

ODOT expressly is not required to pay any state or local taxes or assessments upon any tolled project, or upon revenues or any property acquired or used by ODOT or upon the related income. The bill requires that all public or private property damaged or destroyed in carrying out the toll-related powers must be restored or repaired and placed in its original condition, as nearly as practicable, or adequate compensation or consideration made out of money provided under the toll provisions of the bill.

All governmental agencies (defined as any state or federal agency, political subdivision, or other local, interstate, or regional governmental agency, and any combination of those agencies) are authorized by the bill to lease, lend, grant, or convey to ODOT at its request, any property, including public roads and other property already devoted to public use, that is necessary or convenient to effectuate the tolling purposes of the bill. The terms may be any that the proper authorities of the governmental agencies consider reasonable and fair, without the necessity for an advertisement, order of court, or other action or formality, other than the regular and formal action of the authorities concerned.

The bill establishes that each bridge constituting part of a tolled project is considered a bridge on the state highway system for purposes of existing law provisions governing inspection and maintenance responsibilities.

Collection and use of tolls

(R.C. 5531.11, 5531.13(D), and 5531.14(A), (B), (C), and (D))

To the extent permitted by federal law, the bill allows the Director to fix, revise, charge, and collect tolls for each tolled project. The bill defines "tolls" as tolls, special fees or permit fees, or other charges by ODOT to the owners, lessors, lessees, operators of motor vehicles, or other users of a tolled project for the operation or use of or the right to operate on a tolled project. In accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, the bill requires the Director to establish a plan, schedule, or system of tolls or charges and to declare the purpose, amount, and duration of the tolls or charges. Any

proposal to implement a toll or other charge may include a plan, schedule, or system of tolls or charges that is subject to adjustment by the Director within and in accordance with that plan, schedule, or system without further public notice and opportunity for public comment.

The bill requires tolls to be so fixed and adjusted as to provide funds at least sufficient with other revenues of the Ohio transportation system, if any, to pay: (1) any bond service charges on obligations issued to pay costs of one or more tolled projects as the charges become due and payable, and (2) the cost of maintaining, improving, repairing, constructing, and operating the Ohio transportation system and its different parts and sections, and to create and maintain any reserves for those purposes. The "Ohio transportation system" is broadly defined to include all existing and future transportation projects constructed, operated, repaired, maintained, administered, and operated under ODOT's jurisdiction, including tolled projects and highway projects. "Highway project" means any project intended for the highway purposes of supporting the state highway system.

Tolls may be pledged to the repayment of obligations in the bond proceedings for those obligations and must be a pledged receipt for those obligations to the extent pledged in those bond proceedings. Tolls also may be used for the acquisition of property or pursuant to contracts to the same extent permitted with respect to obligations.

The bill authorizes ODOT to use a system for toll collection that is capable of charging an account holder the appropriate toll or charge by transmission of information from an electronic device on a motor vehicle to the toll lane, which information is used to charge the account holder the appropriate toll or charge.

Ohio Toll Fund

(R.C. 5531.13(D) and 5531.14(E) and (F))

Money received by ODOT from tolls must be deposited to the credit of the Ohio Toll Fund, which the bill creates in the state treasury. The bill permits the Treasurer of State to establish separate subaccounts within the Ohio Toll Fund as determined to be necessary or convenient to pay costs of constructing, improving, repairing, maintaining, administering, and operating a tolled project within the Ohio transportation system. Any remaining money deposited into the Ohio Toll Fund must be used at the discretion of the Director to support construction, improvement, repair, maintenance, administration, and operation costs for the Ohio transportation system, or other activities related to the Ohio transportation system. All investment earnings of the fund are to be credited to the fund. Accounts within the Ohio Toll Fund may be used for the acquisition of property or pursuant to contracts to the same extent permitted with respect to obligations.

The issuing authority for the bonds must certify or cause to be certified to ODOT and the Office of Budget and Management the amounts required during the current fiscal year to meet all bond service charges, costs of credit enhancement facilities, other financing costs, and any other amounts required under the bond proceedings, and each such amount is to be set forth separately. The certification must be made by July 15 each year, and supplemental certifications must be made for each bond service payment date and at any other times provided in the bond proceedings or required by ODOT or the Office of Budget and Management. Money received from tolls and other pledged receipts must be deposited to the credit of the bond service fund at such times and in such amounts as are necessary to satisfy the payment requirements of the bond proceedings.

Authority related to toll projects

(R.C. 5531.11, 5531.14(A), 5531.15(A), (B), (C), and (D), and 5531.99)

The bill authorizes the Director to contract with any person or governmental agency to use any part of the tolled project for telephone, electric light, or power lines, service facilities (service stations, restaurants, and other facilities for food service, roadside parks and rest areas, parking, camping, tenting, rest, and sleeping facilities, hotels or motels, and all similar and other facilities providing services to the traveling public in connection with the use of a tolled project and owned, leased, licensed, or operated by ODOT), or for any other purpose. The bill specifies, however, that no toll, charge, or rental may be made for placing equipment or public utility facilities that are necessary to serve service facilities or to interconnect any public utility facilities.

The bill authorizes the Director, in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, to adopt such rules as the Director considers advisable for the control and regulation of traffic on any tolled project, for the protection and preservation of property under the jurisdiction and control of ODOT, for the maintenance and preservation of good order within the property under its control, and for the purpose of establishing owner or operator liability for failure to comply with toll collection rules. The rules must provide that public police officers must be afforded ready access to all property under ODOT's jurisdiction, without the payment of tolls, while the officers are in the performance of their official duties.

The bill prohibits any person from violating any ODOT rule described above and establishes penalties for violations of the rules. In general, whoever violates such a rule is guilty of a minor misdemeanor on a first offense; on each subsequent offense such person is guilty of a misdemeanor of the fourth degree. When the violation is a civil violation for failure to comply with toll collection rules, the person is subject to a fee or charge established by ODOT by rule. All fines collected for the violation of applicable laws of the state and the rules of ODOT or money arising from bonds forfeited for such violation must be disposed of in accordance with existing law governing the disposition of fines from persons apprehended or arrested by the State Highway Patrol, with a portion credited to the General Revenue Fund (after sufficient revenue is credited to the Security, Investigations, and Policing Fund to support specific activities of the Patrol), a small portion credited to the Trauma and Emergency Medical Services Grants Fund, and the remainder distributed based on the court that imposes the fine (R.C. 4501.11 and 5503.04, not in the bill). All fees or charges assessed by ODOT against an owner or operator of a vehicle as a civil violation for failure to comply with toll collection rules are declared to be revenues of ODOT.

Snow and ice removal material contracts exempt from "Buy Ohio"

(R.C. 125.11)

Under current law, when a state agency seeks to contract for goods, the agency must determine whether the goods must be obtained from an entity producing or mining goods in Ohio (known as the "Buy Ohio" program). Among other factors, if sufficient competition exists among Ohio bids, it is presumed that the agency will not be forced to pay an excessive price or obtain a disproportionately inferior product and therefore, must obtain the goods from an Ohio entity. Current law deems that sufficient competition exists if there are two or more qualified bids offering products that have been produced or mined in Ohio.

The bill exempts ODOT contracts for the acquisition of materials necessary for snow and ice removal from the requirements of the Buy Ohio program deeming that two or more qualified bids offering products produced or mined in Ohio constitutes sufficient competition.

Publishing ODOT's confidential construction cost estimates

(R.C. 5525.15)

Existing law allows the Director of Transportation to keep ODOT's cost estimate for a construction project confidential until after project bids have been received; once the bids have been received, ODOT's cost estimate must be publicly read prior to the opening of the bids. The bill replaces the requirement that the cost estimate be publicly read prior to the opening of the bids with a requirement that the total amount of such an estimate be published after all bids have been received.

Design-build authority of ODOT

(R.C. 5517.011)

Current law authorizes the Director of Transportation to combine the design and construction elements of a highway or bridge project into a single contract in order to expedite the sale and construction of special projects. The director prepares and distributes a scope of work document upon which the bidders base their bids. Except in regard to those requirements relating to providing plans, the director must award these design-build contracts in accordance with ODOT's general competitive bidding law. For each biennium, the total dollar value of contracts made cannot exceed \$250 million.

The bill suspends until July 1, 2015, the limit on the total dollar value of ODOT design-build contracts of \$250 million per biennium.

New Generation State Infrastructure Bank

(R.C. 5531.01)

Current law creates the State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) and authorizes the Director of Transportation to use the resources of the SIB for both financing state projects and providing financial assistance to local and private projects. The SIB consists of several funds: (1) the Highway and Transit Infrastructure Bank Fund, (2) the Aviation Infrastructure Bank Fund, (3) the Rail Infrastructure Bank Fund, and (4) the Infrastructure Bank Obligations Fund. These various funds within the SIB consist of federal grants and awards or other federal assistance received by the state, payments received by ODOT in connection with providing financial assistance for qualifying projects, and the proceeds of obligations issued by the Treasurer of State.

Current law requires the Director to use the SIB to encourage public and private investment in transportation facilities that (1) contribute to the multi-modal and intermodal transportation capabilities of the state, (2) develop a variety of financing techniques designed to expand the availability of funding resources and to reduce direct state costs, (3) maximize transportation innovation authorities' participation in financing projects, and (4) improve the efficiency of the state transportation system by using and developing the particular advantages of each transportation mode to the fullest extent. Financial assistance provided by the Director for qualified projects may be in the form of loans, loan guarantees, letters of credit, leases, lease-purchase agreements, interest rate subsidies, debt service reserves, and such other forms as the Director determines to be appropriate.

The bill creates a new fund within the SIB, the New Generation Infrastructure Bank Fund, to consist of assistance received by the state as may be provided by law. Unlike other funds in the SIB, the New Generation Infrastructure Bank Fund is not created to encourage public and private investment in transportation facilities, but rather is created for the purpose of providing financial assistance to transportation innovation authorities (see "**Transportation innovation authority**"). The bill requires the Director to use the New Generation Infrastructure Bank Fund to encourage transportation innovation authorities to invest in transportation facilities for the same purposes described in (1) to (4), above, and specifies that the types of assistance for qualified projects be in the same forms as listed above (that is, loans, loan guarantees, letters of credit, leases, lease-purchase agreements, interest rate subsidies, debt service reserves, and such other forms of assistance as the Director determines to be appropriate). All fees, charges, rates of interest, payment schedules, security for, and other terms and conditions relating to such assistance must be determined by the Director.

The bill also removes from current law the authority to use the Highway and Transit Infrastructure Bank Fund, the Aviation Infrastructure Bank Fund, and the Rail Infrastructure Bank Fund to pay debt service on obligations whose proceeds have been deposited into the Infrastructure Bank Obligations Fund (federal GARVEE bonds).

Sale of excess ODOT real property

(R.C. 5501.34)

Surveys and appraisals of ODOT property that is for sale

Under current law, if the Director of Transportation determines that real property that ODOT acquired for a highway project is not required for highway purposes, the Director, in the name of the state, may sell all right, title, and interest of the state in any of the real property. The Director must have the parcel appraised by an ODOT prequalified appraiser. Under the bill, the Director may accept a survey or appraisal from an interested party in order to facilitate the disposal of the excess real property. Acceptance by the Director of such a survey or appraisal from an interested party does not convey upon that interested party any special right or standing relative to any other abutting landowner or member of the general public where the prospective sale of the real property is concerned.

Current law requires ODOT to pay all expenses it incurs in the sale of a parcel of real property out of the sale proceeds; the balance of the sale proceeds must be deposited in the highway fund that was used to acquire that parcel. The bill prohibits ODOT from reimbursing any interested party for the cost of a survey or appraisal that the interested party commissions and the Director accepts.

Sale of ODOT real property having a low market value

Under current law, if ODOT real property that is not needed for highway purposes is appraised or reappraised as having a fair market value of \$2,000 or less and ODOT is unable to sell the real property to the abutting owner or owners, the Director may advertise the sale of the real property in accordance with existing sale advertising procedures. The Director may sell the land at public auction to the highest bidder without regard to its appraised value, but the Director may reject all bids that are less than the full appraised value of the real property.

The bill increases the maximum fair market amount of this provision from \$2,000 to \$5,000.

Granting of leases, easements, and licenses for lands under ODOT control

(R.C. 5501.311)

Current law permits the Director of Transportation to lease or lease-purchase all or any part of a transportation facility to or from one or more persons, one or more governmental agencies, a transportation improvement district, or any combination of one or more persons and these entities, and, in conjunction with such a lease or leasepurchase, to grant leases, easements, or licenses for lands under the control of ODOT.

The bill eliminates the phrase "in conjunction therewith" so that the Director may grant leases, easements, or licenses for lands under the control of ODOT independent of any lease or lease-purchase the Director may execute relative to all or part of a transportation facility.

Disposition of fine imposed for failure to register aircraft

(R.C. 4561.21; R.C. 113.08, 113.09, 4561.18, and 4561.22, not in the bill)

An owner of an aircraft that is based in this state generally must register that aircraft with ODOT. An owner that fails to do so is subject to a fine of not more than \$500 for each violation. Any such fines collected must, under current law, be deposited into the General Revenue Fund. The bill requires the Director of Transportation to instead deposit fines into the state treasury to the credit of the Airport Assistance Fund to be used for maintenance and capital improvements to publicly owned airports.

Aircraft exempt from annual license tax

(R.C. 4561.17 and 4561.18)

With specified exceptions, current law imposes an annual registration tax on all general aviation aircraft based in Ohio of \$15 per seat, \$15 for a glider or a balloon, and \$750 per aircraft for commercial cargo aircraft; the tax revenue is deposited into the Airport Assistance Fund. One of the exceptions under existing law is for "[a]ircraft operated under a certificate of convenience and necessity issued by the civil aeronautics board or any successor to that board." The Civil Aeronautics Board no longer exists and its successor, the Federal Aviation Administration, does not issue certificates of convenience and necessity; rather, the United States Secretary of Transportation (who is not the successor to the Civil Aeronautics Board) presently issues a certificate of convenience and necessity to a citizen to provide air transportation based on a finding that the citizen is "fit, willing, and able to provide the transportation" and that "the transportation is consistent with the public convenience and necessity" (49 U.S.C.A. § 41102). The bill eliminates the annual license tax exception for "[a]ircraft operated under a certificate of convenience and necessity issued by the civil aeronautics board" or its successor.

Commercial cargo aircraft license tax

(R.C. 4561.18)

Under current law, the owner of any aircraft that is based in this state, unless otherwise exempted, must register the aircraft with ODOT. Each registration must be accompanied by the proper license tax. The annual license tax imposed on a commercial cargo aircraft is \$750. The bill changes the amount of the tax to an amount equal to \$15 per seat, based on the manufacturer's maximum listed seating capacity.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

Increase in driver, motor vehicle, and certificate of title abstract fees

(R.C. 1548.14, 4501.34, 4503.26, 4505.14, 4506.08, 4509.05, and 4519.63)

The bill increases seven abstract fees from \$2 to \$8. The four fee increases that relate to abstracts containing driver and vehicle information become effective on the bill's normal effective date for permanent law amendments and enactments, while the three fee increases that relate to abstracts containing certificate of title information become effective October 1, 2009. The bill specifies the distribution of all the fees, including to two funds that the bill creates: the Homeland Security Fund and the Investigations Fund.

Fee subject and abstract provider	Current amount and distribution	New amount and distribution	
Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft	\$2, Waterways Safety Fund	\$8 effective October 1, 2009:\$2, Waterways Safety Fund	
(R.C. 1548.14)		\$1.25, Trauma and Emergency Medical Services Fund (existing)	
		\$1.25, Homeland Security Fund (new)	
		\$0.75, Investigations Fund (new)	
		\$2.25, Emergency Management Agency Service and Reimbursement Fund (existing)	
		\$0.50, Justice Program Services Fund (existing)	
Watercraft certificate of title information, Registrar of Motor Vehicles	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	\$8 effective October 1, 2009: \$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	
(R.C. 1548.14)		Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft"	
Watercraft certificate of title information, Clerk of the Court of Common Pleas	\$2, Certificate of Title Administration Fund	\$8 effective October 1, 2009:\$2, Certificate of Title Administration Fund	
(R.C. 1548.14)		Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft"	
Driver's license application information, name and address only, Registrar of Motor Vehicles	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	\$8: \$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	

Fee subject and abstract provider	Current amount and distribution	New amount and distribution	
(R.C. 4501.34)		Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft"	
Motor vehicle registration information, Registrar of Motor Vehicles (R.C. 4503.26)	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	 \$8: \$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft" 	
Motor vehicle certificate of title information, Registrar of Motor Vehicles (R.C. 4505.14)	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	 \$8 effective October 1, 2009: \$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft" 	
Motor vehicle certificate of title information, Clerk of the Court of Common Pleas (R.C. 4505.14)	\$2, Certificate of Title Administration Fund	 \$8 effective October 1, 2009: \$2, Certificate of Title Administration Fund Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft" 	
Driving record of a commercial driver's license holder (R.C. 4506.08)	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	 \$8: \$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, 	

Fee subject and abstract provider	Current amount and distribution	New amount and distribution
		Chief of the Division of Watercraft"
Driving record of a driver's license holder	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	\$8:
(R.C. 4509.05)		\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund
		Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft"
Off-highway motorcycle and all-purpose vehicle certificate of title information, Registrar of Motor Vehicles	\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund	\$8 effective October 1, 2009:\$2, State Bureau of Motor Vehicles Fund
(R.C. 4519.63)		Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft"
Off-highway motorcycle and all-purpose vehicle certificate of title information, Clerk of the Court of Common Pleas	\$2, Certificate of Title Administration Fund	\$8 effective October 1, 2009:\$2, Certificate of Title Administration Fund
(R.C. 4519.63)		Remaining \$6 is distributed in the same manner as specified under the entry "Watercraft certificate of title information, Chief of the Division of Watercraft"

Creation of new funds

(R.C. 5502.03 and 5502.131)

Homeland Security Fund

The bill creates in the state treasury the Homeland Security Fund, consisting of \$1.25 of each of the driver, vehicle, and certificate of title abstract fee increases contained in the bill. Money in the Fund must be used to pay the expenses of administering the

law relative to the powers and duties of the executive director of the Division of Homeland Security.

Investigations Fund

The bill creates in the state treasury the Investigations Fund, consisting of \$0.75 of each of the driver, vehicle, and certificate of title abstract fee increases contained in the bill. The Director of Public Safety must use the money in the Fund to pay the operating expenses of investigations.

Transfer of excess money from certain funds to the State Highway Safety Fund

(R.C. 4513.263, 5502.03, 5502.131, 5502.39, and 5502.67)

The bill permits the Director of Budget and Management to transfer excess money from the Homeland Security Fund, Investigations Fund, Trauma and Emergency Medical Services Fund, Emergency Management Agency Service and Reimbursement Fund, or Justice Program Services Fund if the Director of Public Safety determines that the amount of money in any of these funds exceeds the amount required to cover the costs payable from the fund.

Fee increases to State Highway Safety Fund

(R.C. 4501.01, 4501.03, 4501.044, 4501.06, 4503.04, 4503.042, 4503.07, 4503.10, 4503.182, 4503.65, 4506.08, 4507.23, and 4507.24)

Effective October 1, 2009, the bill increases or establishes the following fees and directs that the additional amounts be deposited into the State Highway Safety Fund which, after certifying sufficient money to meet certain bond-related payments, generally is used to enforce and pay the expenses of administering the law governing motor vehicle registration and operation on the public roads:

Revised Code sections	Transaction type	Current fee	Proposed fee increase
4503.04(O), 4503.042(E), 4503.07(B), 4506.08(C), 4507.23(H)	Late fee for motor vehicle registrations (including commercial vehicles and church buses), commercial driver's licenses, driver's licenses, and motorcycle endorsements	None	\$10
4503.10(C)	Passenger vehicle registrations	Varies by type of vehicle	\$5.75



Revised Code sections	Transaction type	Current fee	Proposed fee increase
4503.10(C)	Commercial vehicle registrations (in-state)	Varies by weight	\$19
4501.044(A), 4503.65	Commercial vehicle registrations (out of state, apportionable under International Registration Plan)	Varies by weight and type of vehicle	2.5% (varies from \$2 to \$33.50, with an overall cap of \$20.25 for buses)
4503.182	Temporary license placard (tags)	\$10.50	\$5
4507.24(D)(2)	Vision screening	\$1	\$1

The \$10 late fee may be waived for good cause shown if the application is accompanied by supporting evidence as the Registrar may require. A deputy registrar who collects the \$10 late fee retains 50¢ and transmits \$9.50 to the Registrar for deposit into the State Highway Safety Fund.

A disabled veteran who has a service-connected disability rated at 100% currently does not pay a fee for a driver's or commercial driver's license or a motorcycle endorsement and does not pay for vision screening. Under the bill, such a veteran will not pay the late fees for licenses or the additional fee for vision screening either.

OHIO TURNPIKE COMMISSION

Fines for overweight vehicles on the Ohio Turnpike

(R.C. 5537.99)

Current law authorizes the Ohio Turnpike Commission to adopt rules as it considers advisable for the control and regulation of traffic on any turnpike project. The rules of the Commission with respect to speed, axle loads, vehicle loads, and vehicle dimensions apply notwithstanding such violations established under general traffic law provisions; except in regard to civil violations related to failure to comply with toll collection rules, violations of Commission rules are a minor misdemeanor (fine of up to \$150) on a first offense and a fourth degree misdemeanor (fine of up to \$250 and up to 30 days) on any subsequent offense. Fines for violations of Commission rules that are misdemeanor offenses are distributed in accordance with the provisions governing the distribution of fines collected from persons apprehended or arrested by the State Highway Patrol, with a portion credited to the General Revenue Fund (after sufficient revenue is credited to the Security, Investigations, and Policing Fund to support specific activities of the Patrol), a small portion credited to the Trauma and Emergency Medical Services Grants Fund, and the remainder distributed based on the court that imposes the fine (R.C. 4501.11 and 5503.04, not in the bill).

The bill establishes that violations of vehicle weight limits on the Turnpike are subject to the same fines as such violations occurring on other roads, rather than being a minor misdemeanor on a first offense and a fourth degree misdemeanor on subsequent offenses. Vehicle weight violation fines generally are dependent on the amount by which the overweight vehicle exceeds the established weight limits. Specifically, the fines are \$80 for the first 2,000 pounds, or fraction thereof, of overload; for overloads of 2,000 to 5,000 pounds, the fine is \$100 plus \$1 per 100 pounds of overload; for overloads of 5,000 to 10,000 pounds, the fine is \$130 plus \$2 per 100 pounds of overload and the violator may be imprisoned not more than 30 days; for all overloads in excess of 10,000 pounds the fine is \$160 plus \$3 per 100 pounds of overload and the violator may be imprisoned not more than 30 days. Additionally whoever violates the weight provisions of vehicle and load relating to gross load limits (calculated by the federal bridge formula with a general maximum of 80,000 pounds) is fined not less than \$100. (R.C. 5577.99, not in the bill.)

Ohio Turnpike contracts

(R.C. 5537.07)

Design-build

The bill allows the Ohio Turnpike Commission to establish a program to expedite special projects by combining the design and construction elements of any public improvement project into a single contract. The Commission must prepare and distribute a scope of work document on which the bidders must base their bids. At a minimum, bidders must meet the requirements to engage in the practice of engineering. Except in regard to those requirements relating to providing plans, the Commission must award the design-build contracts following the Commission's general competitive bidding requirements.

Bid and performance bonds

In general, current law requires the Ohio Turnpike Commission to competitively bid any contract in excess of \$50,000. Each bid for a contract (other than a construction, demolition, alteration, repair, improvement, renovation, or reconstruction contract, which is covered by separate bid guaranty provisions) must be accompanied by a sufficient bond or certified check on a solvent bank that if the bid is accepted a contract will be entered into and the performance of its proposal secured; additionally, a performance bond approved by the Commission, in an amount equal to at least 50% of the contract price, is required of every contractor awarded a competitively bid contract. The bill retains the general requirement that contracts over \$50,000 be competitively bid but modifies the requirements related to bid and performance bonds. Under the bill, only bids for contracts over \$150,000 or for a service facility contract must be accompanied by the specified bond or certified check. Also, every contractor awarded a contract over \$150,000 or a service facility contract must furnish a performance bond in a form as prescribed and approved by the Commission with good and sufficient surety in an amount equal to at least 50% of the contract price.

MISCELLANEOUS

Clean Ohio program debt authority expansion

(R.C. 133.52, 151.01, 151.09, and 151.40; Sections 610.20 and 610.21)

In 2000, Ohio voters adopted Section 20 of Article VIII, Ohio Constitution authorizing the issuance of bonds to be used for conservation and revitalization purposes (the "Clean Ohio" program). The General Assembly subsequently enacted legislation to implement the Clean Ohio program, including debt-issuance authority (Am. Sub. H.B. 3 of the 124th General Assembly). Section 20 and the implementing law provide that the Ohio Public Facilities Commission is authorized to issue up to \$200 million in general obligation bonds at any one time, the proceeds of which benefit the Clean Ohio Conservation Fund, the Clean Ohio Trail Fund, and the Clean Ohio Agricultural Easement Fund. Section 20 and the implementing law also provide for the issuance of revenue bonds for revitalization purposes. These obligations are not general obligations of the state, and the full faith and credit, revenue, and taxing power of the state are not pledged to the payment of debt service on the obligations. The Treasurer of State is authorized to issue these bonds, up to \$200 million at any one time, the proceeds of which are to be credited to the Clean Ohio Revitalization Fund. For both the general obligation bonds and revenue bonds, not more than \$50 million principal amount of each may be issued in any fiscal year, plus the principal amount of any obligations that could have been issued in a prior fiscal year but were not issued.

In 2008, Ohio voters adopted Section 2q of Article VIII, Ohio Constitution, an identical provision to Section 20. This constitutional amendment authorizes an additional issuance of bonds to be used for the same conservation and revitalization purposes described above. Identical to Section 20, up to \$200 million may be issued in general obligations at any one time for conservation purposes. Similarly, up to \$200 million in revenue bonds may be issued at any one time for revitalization purposes. Also, for both types of debt, the same \$50 million annual limit for issuance of each is imposed. Under the combined constitutional authority of Sections 20 and 2q, up to \$400 million in general obligation bonds may be issued for conservation purposes and

up to \$400 million in revenue bonds may be issued for revitalization purposes at any one time. The combined per fiscal year limitation on bond issuance is now \$100 million.

Additionally, under Section 20 and its implementing law, a county, municipal corporation, or township is authorized to issue or incur public obligations, including general obligations, to provide, or assist in providing, grants, loans, loan guarantees, or contributions for conservation and revitalization purposes pursuant to Section 20. Section 2q provides the same constitutional authority.

The bill extends the Section 20 implementing law to include the debt authority granted to state and local governments under Section 2q. In addition, with respect to the general obligations and revenue bonds that may be issued by the state, the bill increases the implementing law's outstanding debt limitation of \$200 million to \$400 million for each type of debt. The bill does not, however, increase the current limitation of \$50 million per fiscal year imposed under the implementing law for issuances of state general obligations or revenue bonds.

Pursuant to the extension of the implementation authority, the bill (1) authorizes the Ohio Public Facilities Commission to issue \$60 million in general obligations and the Treasurer of State to issue \$60 million in revenue bonds, and (2) appropriates the proceeds to fund the Clean Ohio program. This debt is in addition to the debt authorized in Am. Sub. H.B. 562 for the same purposes.

Motor fuel excise tax: eliminate evaporation and shrinkage allowance

(R.C. 5703.053, 5703.70, 5735.06, 5735.141 (repealed), 5735.145, 5735.16, and 5735.23)

Under continuing law, a motor fuel excise tax of 28¢ per gallon is imposed on motor fuel dealers. The codified law governing the motor fuel excise tax (R.C. 5735.06) provides that a motor fuel dealer filing a complete and timely monthly tax report with payment is entitled to deduct a discount equal to 3% of the fuel gallonage the dealer received, minus 1% of the fuel gallonage sold to retail dealers. This discount is to cover the costs of filing the report and to account for evaporation, shrinkage, and other losses. The transportation appropriations act for the 2008-2009 fiscal biennium, Am. Sub. H.B. 67 of the 127th General Assembly, reduced the 3.0% discount for fiscal years 2008 and 2009 to 1.0% (minus 0.50% of gallonage sold to retail dealers--see below).

The bill eliminates the motor fuel shrinkage allowance for motor fuel dealers.

Under the current codified motor fuel excise tax law, retail dealers of motor fuel who have purchased fuel on which the motor fuel excise tax has been paid are granted a refund for evaporation and shrinkage equal to 1.0% of the taxes paid on the fuel each semiannual period (R.C. 5735.141). Am. Sub. H.B. 67 reduced the refund percentage to

0.50% for fiscal years 2008 and 2009, but permitted retail dealers to claim a "vendor discount" for motor fuel purchased during the FY 2008-2009 biennium. The discount equals 0.90% of the fuel tax paid on the motor fuel purchased, and could be claimed as a refund for fuel purchased during the biennium.

The bill eliminates the codified retail dealer shrinkage refund. The temporary 0.90% retail vendor discount lapses at the end of fiscal year 2009.

Court costs for moving violations

(R.C. 2949.094(A), (B), and (C), 5502.67, and 5502.68)

Under current law, the court in which any person is convicted of or pleads guilty to any moving violation, including a juvenile court in the case of a juvenile traffic offender, must impose an additional court cost of \$10 on the offender. The clerk of court is required to transmit 35% of the money collected under this requirement to the Division of Criminal Justice Services, and the Division is required to deposit the money received into the Drug Law Enforcement Fund operating pursuant to R.C. 5502.68. If the person charged with a moving violation posts bail, the \$10 is added to the amount of bail and retained by the clerk of court until the person is convicted, pleads guilty, forfeits bail, is found not guilty, or has the charges dismissed. If the person is convicted, pleads guilty, or forfeits bail, the clerk of court must transmit \$3.50 (35%) of the \$10 additional bail to the Drug Law Enforcement Fund. The bill would alter the transmission and distribution of the money collected by the clerk of court under these provisions. Under the bill, the clerk of court would be required to transmit the money to the state treasury, of which, 97% would be credited to the Drug Law Enforcement Fund and 3% would be credited to the Justice Program Services Fund operating pursuant to R.C. 5502.67. The bill would amend R.C. 5502.67 to acknowledge the addition of this money to the Justice Program Services Fund and also would amend R.C. 5502.68 to state that the Drug Law Enforcement Fund will receive 97%, instead of the current 100%, of this money.

NOTE ON EFFECTIVE DATES

(Sections 812.10 to 815.10)

Section 1d, Article II of the Ohio Constitution states that "laws providing for tax levies [and] appropriations for the current expenses of the state government and state institutions *** shall go into immediate effect," and "shall not be subject to the referendum." R.C. 1.471 implements this provision with respect to appropriations, providing that a codified or uncodified section of law contained in an act that contains an appropriation for current expenses is not subject to the referendum and goes into immediate effect if (1) it is an appropriation for current expenses, (2) it is an earmarking of the whole or part of an appropriation of current expenses, or (3) its implementation depends upon an appropriation for current expenses that is contained in the act. The statute states that the General Assembly is to determine which sections go into immediate effect.

The act includes a default provision stating that, except as otherwise specifically provided, the amendment, enactment, or repeal of a section in the act is subject to the referendum and takes effect on the 91st day after the act is filed with the Secretary of State (barring the filing of a referendum petition). The act also includes many exceptions to the default provision, which provide that the specified provisions are not subject to the referendum and go into immediate effect.

HISTORY		
ACTION	DATE	
Introduced		

h0002-i-128.docx/jc:kl

